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UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT
DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT
BRIDGEPORT DIVISION

________________________________________________________ X
In re: : Chapter 11
HO WAN KWOK, et al.,* : Case No. 22-50073 (JAM)
Debtor. : (Jointly Administered)
_______________________________________________________ X
LUC A. DESPINS, Chapter 11 Trustee, : Adv. Proceeding [ ]
Plaintiff, : December 29, 2023
V. :
ACE DECADE HOLDINGS LIMITED, :
YANPING “YVETTE” WANG, AND :
RUI HAO :
Defendant. :
_______________________________________________________ X

COMPLAINT OF CHAPTER 11 TRUSTEE FOR ESTATE OF HO WAN KWOK,
PURSUANT TO BANKRUPTCY CODE SECTIONS 362, 549, AND 550, (I) SEEKING
DECLARATORY JUDGMENT THAT TRANSFER OF SHARES IN ACE DECADE
HOLDINGS LIMITED BY YANPING “YVETTE” WANG TO RUI HAO IS VOID

Luc A. Despins, in his capacity as the chapter 11 trustee (the “Trustee”) appointed in the

chapter 11 case (the “Chapter 11 Case”) of Ho Wan Kwok (the “Debtor” or “Kwok™), files this

adversary complaint (the “Complaint”) against defendants Ace Decade Holdings Limited (“Ace

1 The Debtors in these chapter 11 cases are Ho Wan Kwok (also known as Guo Wengui, Miles Guo, and Miles
Kwok, as well as numerous other aliases) (last four digits of tax identification number: 9595), Genever
Holdings LLC (last four digits of tax identification number: 8202), and Genever Holdings Corporation. The
mailing address for the Trustee and Genever Debtor is Paul Hastings LLP, 200 Park Avenue, New York, NY
10166 c/o Luc A. Despins, as Trustee for the Estate of Ho Wan Kwok (solely for purposes of notices and
communications).
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Decade™), Yanping “Yvette” Wang (“Wang”), and Rui Hao (“Hao” and, together with Ace
Decade and Wang, the “Defendants™) and states as follows:

NATURE OF ACTION

1. As this Court previously found, (a) Ace Decade is beneficially owned by the
Debtor’s estate and (b) Wang is not and has never been a beneficial owner of the shares in Ace
Decade. Notwithstanding these findings and notwithstanding this Court’s direction to the Debtor
to surrender Ace Decade to the Trustee (including by causing Wang to turn over her ownership
interest in Ace Decade to the Trustee), on or about January 3, 2023, Wang transferred her
nominal ownership of the sole outstanding share in Ace Decade to Hao, without notice to or
consent of the Trustee. The Trustee brings this Complaint to void Wang’s transfer of the sole
outstanding share in Ace Decade to Hao, as such transfer was made in violation of the automatic

stay under Title 11 of the United States Code (the “Bankruptcy Code”) and, moreover, was an

unauthorized postpetition transfer of estate property.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

2. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this adversary proceeding pursuant
to 28 U.S.C. § 1334(b). This adversary proceeding has been referred to this Court pursuant to 28
U.S.C. §157(a).
3. Venue is appropriate in this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 8§88 1408 and 1409.
PARTIES
4, The Trustee is the chapter 11 trustee in the above-captioned chapter 11 case

pursuant to the Court’s order entered on July 8, 2022 [Docket No. 523].
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5. Defendant Ace Decade is a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
(“BVI”) and registered with Trident Trust Company (B.V.l.) Limited. Ace Decade is
beneficially owned by the Trustee.

6. Defendant Wang is an individual who, prior to the Ace Decade Transfer (as
defined below), was the purported nominal 100% owner of Ace Decade.

7. Defendant Hao is an individual who, upon the Ace Decade Transfer, purportedly
became the nominal 100% owner of Ace Decade.

8. On information and belief, Defendant Hao is the brother of Tian Hao, who is an
officer of multiple entities founded and/or controlled by the Debtor, including chief financial
officer and director of GFashion and chief executive officer of G News LLC and G Music LLC.
In addition, on information and belief, Defendant Hao transferred more than $100,000 to various
entities founded and/or controlled by the Debtor, including GTV, G Club, and Himalaya
International Clearing Ltd.

FACTS

l. Debtor’s Chapter 11 Case

9. On February 15, 2022 (the “Petition Date”), Ho Wan Kwok (the “Debtor”) filed
with the Court a voluntary petition for relief under chapter 11 of Bankruptcy Code. See Docket
No. 1 in Case No. 22-50073 (JAM).

10.  OnJune 15, 2022, the Court entered a memorandum of decision and order
[Docket No. 465] (the “Trustee Order) directing the United States Trustee to appoint a chapter
11 trustee in the Chapter 11 Case. Pursuant to the Trustee Order, the United States Trustee

selected Luc A. Despins as the Trustee.
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11.  OnJuly 8, 2022, the Court entered an order granting the appointment of Luc A.
Despins as the Trustee in the Chapter 11 Case [Docket No. 523].

I1. Corporate Governance Rights Order

12.  On August 10, 2022, the Court entered an order [Docket No. 717] (the “Corporate

Governance Rights Order”) confirming, among other things, that the Trustee holds all of the

Debtor’s economic and corporate governance rights with respect to all Debtor-controlled
entities.? In addition, in the Corporate Governance Rights Order, the Court directed the Debtor
to “cooperate with the Trustee to enable the Trustee to perform his duties” and “surrender to the
Trustee all property of the estate and any recorded information, including, without limitation,
books, documents, records, and papers relating to property of the estate.”®

13. Notwithstanding the Debtor’s pending appeal of the Corporate Governance Rights
Order (as to portions of the order not relevant to this adversary proceeding), the foregoing
provisions are in full force and effect.

1. Contempt Proceedings

14.  On October 4, 2022, the Trustee filed his motion [Docket No. 913] (the

“Contempt Motion”) seeking to hold the Debtor in civil contempt for failure to transfer, among

other things, the Debtor’s shares in Ace Decade.
15.  On November 17, 2022, the Court entered an order [Docket No. 1110] (the

“Partial Resolution Order”) partially resolving the Contempt Motion.

2 Corporate Governance Rights Order { 3.
3 1d. g3
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16. In the Partial Resolution Order, the Court held, among other things, that (i) the
Debtor exclusively beneficially owned and controlled Ace Decade on the Petition Date and
maintained such exclusive beneficial ownership and control up to and including immediately
prior to the date of the Trustee’s appointment,* (ii) Wang is not and has never been a beneficial
owner of the shares in Ace Decade,® and (iii) but for the Trustee’s appointment and his rights
under the Bankruptcy Code and the Corporate Governance Rights Order, the Debtor would still
exclusively beneficially own and control Ace Decade.®

17.  The Debtor did not contest the aforementioned findings in the Partial Resolution
Order and, moreover, agreed not to appeal such findings.’

18.  Accordingly, the Trustee holds the Debtor’s economic and governance rights with
respect to Ace Decade in furtherance of his duties to the Debtor’s estate, as confirmed by the
Contempt Order (as defined below).®

19. Prior to entry of the Partial Resolution Order, on November 15, 2023, counsel to
the Trustee emailed a copy of the proposed form of Partial Resolution Order to Mr. Alex
Lipman, who the Trustee understands acted as counsel for Wang at that time. In addition, on
November 16, 2023, counsel to the Trustee served a copy of the proposed form of Partial
Resolution Order on Ace Decade c/o Trident Trust Company (B.V.l.) Limited (“Trident”) in the

BVI. Trident is the registered agent for Ace Decade in the BVI.

4 Partial Resolution Order { 1.

> d.
6 1d.f2.
Tod.

8 Contempt Order at 10.
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20.  OnJanuary 24, 2023, the Court entered an order [Docket No. 1372] (the

“Contempt Order”) holding the Debtor in contempt of the Corporate Governance Rights Order.

21. In the Contempt Order, the Court held, among other things, that (i) the Debtor is
required, but failed, to cooperate with the Trustee regarding the Trustee’s control of Ace Decade
(including the exercise of corporate governance rights) and (ii) the Debtor is required, but failed,
to surrender to the Trustee (a) Ace Decade, (b) the ownership interest in Ace Decade, and (c) the
corporate governance documents relating to Ace Decade.’

22, In addition, the Contempt Order found that (i) Wang is the nominee owner of Ace
Decade for the benefit of the Debtor, (ii) the Debtor has control over Wang, including because
the Debtor has employed Yvette Wang for several years, and has directed her to take actions on
his behalf, including directing her to act on his behalf to purchase properties, and (iii)
notwithstanding such control, the Debtor failed to cause Wang to turn over the shares in Ace
Decade to the Trustee. '

23.  The Contempt Order also held that the Debtor’s failure to comply with the
Corporate Governance Rights Order was in bad faith.** For example, the Court found that the
Debtor’s alleged attempt to comply with the Corporate Governance Order obscured the location

of his nominee—Wang—from the Trustee.'?

® Id. at6-7, 14-15.

10 9. at 4, 15.
1 d. at 13.
12 d. at 13-14.
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24, Finally, the Contempt Order provided that the Debtor had until 5:00 p.m. (17:00)
on March 6, 2023 to purge himself of contempt or face sanctions.'®* The Debtor did not do so.

V. January 3, 2023 Transfer

25.  After the entry of the Contempt Order, the Trustee learned that, on or around
January 3, 2023, Wang had transferred her nominal ownership in the sole outstanding share in
Ace Decade to Hao.

26. In particular, on May 1, 2023, the Trustee filed an application with the BVI court
to obtain disclosure from the BV registered agent for Ace Decade—i.e., Trident—of the most
recent corporate documents for Ace Decade. That application was granted by the BVI court by
order, dated May 8, 2023.

27.  On May 13, 2023, Trident provided the Trustee with the requested disclosures.
These disclosures show that (a) there is only one ordinary share of Ace Decade outstanding and
(b) on January 3, 2023, Wang purported to transfer her nominal ownership in that one ordinary

share to Hao (the “Ace Decade Transfer”).

28.  The Ace Decade Transfer was made without notice to or consent of the Trustee.
Moreover, the Ace Decade Transfer is in clear violation of the Corporate Governance Rights
Order, the Partial Resolution Order, and the automatic stay under section 362 of the Bankruptcy

Code.

13 1d. at 15-16.
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29. Upon information and belief, Hao has wrongfully attempted to maintain
ownership and control over the Ace Decade share in violation of this Court’s orders and the
automatic stay.

V. UBS Action

30.  On or about September 23, 2020, the Debtor, Ace Decade, and Dawn State
Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary of Ace Decade) commenced litigation, Claim No. CL-2020-
000345 (the “UBS Action”), in the High Court of Justice, Business and Property Courts of
England and Wales, Commercial Court, asserting claims against UBS AG for breach of contract
and seeking damages of at least $495,300,000.

31. Notwithstanding the Trustee’s appointment in this chapter 11 cases, the Partial
Resolution Order, and the Contempt Order, U.K. counsel for Ace Decade has taken the position
that the Trustee does not control Ace Decade and, moreover, has refused to take instructions
from the Trustee with respect to the UBS Action, thereby necessitating the filing of this
Complaint.

First Claim

(Declaratory Judgment that Ace Decade Transfer Is Void Ab Initio as it Was Made in
Violation of the Automatic Stay Under Bankruptcy Code Section 362(a))

32.  The Trustee repeats and realleges the allegations contained in paragraphs 1-32.

33. Notwithstanding the Trustee’s beneficial ownership of Ace Decade, on or about
January 3, 2023, Wang purported to transfer her nominal ownership of the one outstanding share
of Ace Decade to Hao, without notice to or consent of the Trustee.

34.  Such transfer was in violation of the automatic stay under section 362(a) of the

Bankruptcy Code, including as an “act to obtain possession of property of the estate or of
8
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property from the estate or to exercise control over property of the estate.” See 11 U.S.C.
8§ 362(a)(3).

35.  Allshares in Ace Decade are property of the Debtor’s estate.

36. Based on these facts and circumstances, the Trustee seeks a ruling pursuant to
section 362(a) of the Bankruptcy Code: (i) declaring that the purported transfer of Wang’s shares
to Hao was in violation of the automatic stay and is, therefore, void ab initio; (ii) declaring that
all Ace Decade shares are and remain property of the Debtor’s estate notwithstanding the Ace
Decade Transfer; (iii) ordering Hao to take any and all actions necessary to ensure the Trustee is
able to exercise full ownership and control (including without limitation all corporate governance
rights) over the transferred shares of Ace Decade, including without limitation by surrendering
any and all shares of Ace Decade to the Trustee; and (iv) authorizing the Trustee to take any
actions necessary to rectify the share register in the BVI to reflect that the Trustee is the
beneficial as well as legal owner of all Ace Decade shares.

Second Claim

(Damages, Including Punitive Damages, as Against Hao and Wang Pursuant to
Bankruptcy Code Section 362(k))

37.  The Trustee repeats and realleges the allegations contained in paragraphs 1-37.

38. Hao’s and Wang’s violation of section 362(a) of the Bankruptcy Code was willful
because, upon information and belief, Hao’s and Wang’s conduct was intentional, they had prior
actual knowledge of the automatic stay, their conduct was in violation of prior orders of this

Court, and any alleged mistake of law is not a defense.
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39. Under section 362(k) of the Bankruptcy Code, Plaintiff is entitled to
compensation for actual damages, punitive damages, and reasonable fees and costs from
Defendants Hao and Wang in amounts to be determined by this Court.

Third Claim
(Sanctions Against Hao and Wang Pursuant to Bankruptcy Code Section 105(a))

40.  The Trustee repeats and realleges the allegations contained in paragraphs 1-40.

41. Hao’s and Wang’s violation of section 362(a) of the Bankruptcy Code was willful
and in bad faith.

42. Under section 105(a) of the Bankruptcy Code and the Court’s equitable powers,
sanctions should be awarded against Defendants Hao and Wang, including to compensate
Plaintiff for his reasonable attorneys’ fees, costs, and expenses incurred in this action, in amounts
to be determined by this Court.

Fourth Claim

(Avoidance of Ace Decade Transfer as Unauthorized Postpetition Transfer
Pursuant to Bankruptcy Code Section 549(a))

43.  The Trustee repeats and realleges the allegations contained in paragraphs 1-43.

44.  Section 549(a) of the Bankruptcy Code provides, in pertinent part, that a trustee
may avoid a transfer of property of the estate (i) that occurs after the commencement of the case
and (ii) that is not authorized under this title or by the court.

45.  The Trustee beneficially owns any and all shares of Ace Decade.

46.  The Ace Decade Transfer occurred on or about January 3, 2023, which was after

the Debtor’s petition date of February 15, 2022.

10
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47.  Such transfer was not authorized by the Bankruptcy Court. Nor was such transfer
authorized by the Court. To the contrary, such transfer was made in direct violation of the
Corporate Governance Rights Order, the Partial Resolution Order, and the automatic stay of the
Bankruptcy Code.

48.  Therefore, the Trustee is entitled to avoid the Ace Decade Transfers pursuant to
section 549(a) of the Bankruptcy Code.

Fifth Claim

(Recovery of Fraudulent Transfers Pursuant to Bankruptcy Code Section 550)

49.  The Trustee repeats and realleges the allegations contained in paragraphs 1-49.

50.  Section 550 of the Bankruptcy Code provides that, if a transfer is avoided under
section 549 of the Bankruptcy Code, the trustee may recover for the estate the transferred
property or the value of such property from (i) the initial transferee of such transfer or the entity
for whose benefit such transfer was made or (ii) the immediate or mediate transferee of such
initial transferees.

51. Hao is the initial transferee of the Wang’s nominal ownership of one share of Ace
Decade.

52.  The Trustee, therefore, is entitled to the return of such share of Ace Decade by
Hao.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, for the foregoing reasons, the Trustee respectfully requests that judgment

be entered as follows:

1. On the First Claim, an order, pursuant to section 362 of the Bankruptcy Code: (i)

11
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declaring that the purported transfer of Defendant Wang’s shares to Defendnat Hao was
in violation of the automatic stay and is, therefore, void ab initio, (ii) declaring that all
Ace Decade shares are and remain property of the Debtor’s estate notwithstanding the
Ace Decade Transfer, (iii) ordering Defendant Hao to take any and all actions necessary
to ensure the Trustee is able to exercise full ownership and control (including without
limitation all corporate governance rights) over the transferred shares of Ace Decade,
including without limitation by surrendering any and all shares of Ace Decade to the
Trustee, and (iv) authorizing the Trustee to take any actions necessary to rectify the share
register in the BV to reflect that the Trustee is the beneficial as well as legal owner of all
Ace Decade shares.

2. On the Second Claim, a money judgment against Defendants Hao and Wang for
actual damages, punitive damages, and Plaintiff’s reasonable attorneys’ fees, costs, and
expenses incurred in this action.

3. On the Third Claim, sanctions against Defendants Hao and Wang, including to
compensate Plaintiff for his reasonable attorneys’ fees, costs, and expenses incurred in
this action, in amounts to be determined by this Court.

4. On the Fourth Claim, an order, pursuant to section 549(a) of the Bankruptcy
Code, avoiding the Ace Decade Transfer as an unauthorized postpetition transfer.

5. On the Fifth Claim, an order, pursuant to section 550 of the Bankruptcy Code,
requiring Defendant Hao (whether as immediate or mediate transferee) to transfer to the

Trustee any and all shares in Ace Decade.

12



Case 22-50073 Doc 2480 Filed 12/29/23 Entered 12/29/23 13:31:27 Page 15 of 16

6. Requesting the assistance of the BV courts (or other non-US courts with
jurisdiction over any of the Defendants) to enforce, on an expedited basis, the judgment
in this action and to ensure that the Trustee is able to exercise the corporate governance
rights with respect to Ace Decade, including but not limited to rectifying the share
register to reflect that the Trustee is the beneficial as well as legal owner of all Ace
Decade shares.

7. Such other and further relief as the Court may deem just, proper, or equitable

under the circumstances.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.]

13
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Dated: December 29, 2023 LUC A. DESPINS
New Haven, Connecticut CHAPTER 11 TRUSTEE

By: /s/ Douglas S. Skalka
Douglas S. Skalka (ct00616)
Patrick R. Linsey (ct29437)
NEUBERT, PEPE & MONTEITH, P.C.
195 Church Street, 13th Floor
New Haven, Connecticut 06510
(203) 781-2847
dskalka@npmlaw.com
plinsey@npmlaw.com

and

Avram E. Luft (admitted pro hac vice)
Douglass Barron (admitted pro hac vice)
PAUL HASTINGS LLP

200 Park Avenue

New York, New York 10166

(212) 318-6000
aviluft@paulhastings.com
douglassbarron@paulhastings.com

and

Nicholas A. Bassett (admitted pro hac vice)
PAUL HASTINGS LLP

2050 M Street NW

Washington, D.C. 20036

(202) 551-1902
nicholasbassett@paulhastings.com

Counsel for the Chapter 11 Trustee
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